RECEIVED

May 20 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001151

Greenville Dental Office Management Group, LLC, a limited liability company,
proceeding pursuant to 33-44-1101 by and through its member,
Bhaskar Savani, D.M.D.....Respondent

v.

Jon Julian, D.D.S., Blake Julian, D.D.S.,
Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A.....Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Meliah Bowers Jefferson (Bar No. 74064)
Jim May (Bar No. 74278)
WYCHE, PA
Post Office Box 728
Greenville, SC 29602-0728
Telephone: 864-242-2800
Telecopier: 864-235-8900

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This action arises from a dispute over the mismanagement of a joint venture involving three dentists. The purpose of the venture, as presented by Respondent Dr. Bhaskar Savani (“Savani”) to local South Carolina dentists, Appellants Dr. Jon Julian (“J. Julian”) and Dr. Blake Julian (“B. Julian”), was to grow their practices and increase efficiencies by lowering their management costs through access to Savani’s network of vendors, suppliers, processes, and systems and to allow Dr. Savani to expand his presence into the South Carolina dentistry market.

This litigation ensued after the Julians questioned multiple management decisions by Savani, including Savani’s transfer of hundreds of thousands of dollars from the joint venture accounts into his own company account and Savani’s refusal to provide any legitimate explanation or documentation to substantiate the misappropriation of funds. Left with little choice, the Julians initiated litigation in federal court to seek redress for Dr. Savani’s misdeeds including, without limitation, claims for breach of his duties, shareholder oppression, and an accounting.

Thereafter, the Julians transparently operated their entities without further involvement of Savani and left him to operate his entities as he wished pending resolution of the disputes between the parties. Instead of staffing and operating his practices during the pendency of the dispute, Savani allowed his South Carolina offices to go dark and initiated this derivative litigation against the Julians in an attempt to gain access to the Julians’ reserve funds and force them to carry his practices. As part of his effort to further siphon funds away from the Julians, Savani sought a prejudgment receivership on all of the income generated by the Julians by falsely claiming the Julians were wasting assets belonging to the joint venture. While the Julians could have distributed the entirety of the revenue derived from their own practices to themselves, they set aside all of the excess revenue and provided an accounting to Savani. As a reward for their transparency, Savani

portrayed the Julians as thieves of their own income to the trial court. Unfortunately, Savani's efforts to vilify the Julians were rewarded with the establishment of a prejudgment receivership based on findings of fact that are not supported by the record as a whole and conclusions of law that are contrary to the principles well-established by South Carolina jurisprudence.

The issues presented in this appeal are as follows:

1. Did the trial judge err in granting a prejudgment receivership without including any valuation of the property at issue as required by statute?
2. Did the trial judge err in granting a prejudgment receivership over all of the Julians' revenues where the Respondent failed to establish an apparent right to the property?
3. Did the trial judge err in granting a prejudgment receivership where the Respondent failed to demonstrate the property at issue was in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a dispute among members of a joint venture gone wrong. On June 12, 2020, Appellants J. Julian, B. Julian, and the Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A. (the “Clinical Practice” and collectively, “Appellants”) initiated litigation in federal court against Savani and his company, American Dental Management Group, LLC (“ADMG”), seeking redress for, *inter alia*, Savani’s numerous breaches of his statutory duties of loyalty, obligations of good faith and fair dealing, and/or other fiduciary duties owed to Appellants. *See John Julian, D.D.S., Blake Julian, D.D.S. and Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A. vs. Bhaskar Bhaskar, D.M.D., and American Dental Management Group, LLC*, Case No. 6:20-cv-02229-BHH (the “Federal Action”) (R. pp. 22-46).¹

After Appellants initiated the Federal Action, on August 27, 2020, Savani commenced this litigation in state court in a derivative capacity (the “State Action”) brought in the name of Respondent Greenville Dental Office Management Group, LLC. *See Amended Complaint in State Action* (R. pp. 56-64). In the State Action, Respondent alleges claims breach of contract against Appellants (“the “LLC” or “Respondent”). *Id.*

Respondent moved the trial court for a prejudgment appointment of a receiver on February 9, 2021. *See Motion for Appointment of Receiver* (R. pp. 119-121). The Court held a hearing on Respondent’s Motion for Appointment of Receiver on April 8, 2021, and filed its initial order appointing a receiver on May 12, 2021 (the “May Order”). *See Hearing Transcript* (R. pp. 166-193) and *May Order* (R. pp. 4-10). Appellants made a motion to the trial court seeking to have the court reconsider, alter, and amend the May Order on the grounds that it contained errors of law,

¹ Since entry of the orders at issue in this appeal, Appellants amended their complaint in the Federal Action to add claims against an additional defendant, Nirajan Savani, related to allegations of wrongdoing in connection with a dental facility located in Duncan, South Carolina.

failed to consider, address, or make findings as to certain statutory requirements, and created manifest injustice for Appellants. *See* Motion to Alter or Amend (R. pp. 148-165).

After several informal conferences with counsel and review of proposed orders, the trial court denied Appellants substantive grounds for relief but amended the order to clarify certain issues regarding the appointment of the receiver in this case on September 8, 2021 (the “September Order” and together with the May Order, the “Receivership Order”). *See* Emails with Court (R. pp. 194, 208-211, 222), Proposed Orders (R. pp. 195-207, 212-221, 223-237), and September Order (R. pp. 11-21). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arises out of a business relationship between Dr. Savani, J. Julian, and B. Julian wherein the parties engaged in a joint venture at the suggestion of Savani. Shortly after commencing the venture in 2018, the Julians discovered that Savani was not the business mastermind that he portrayed himself to be and that the venture was being systematically mismanaged and dismantled at the hands of Savani and his company, ADMG through numerous acts of deceit, bad faith, and self-dealing. *See* Complaint in Federal Action (R. pp. 24-34); Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaim in State Action (R. pp. 108-110).

J. Julian has practiced dentistry for more than forty years. (R. p. 24). He has enjoyed a long career operating successful dental practices in Kansas and, now, Travelers Rest, South Carolina. *Id.* J. Julian became acquainted with Savani in the fall of 2016, when Savani approached J. Julian about providing dental education to dentists associated with or managed by ADMG. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, Savani, J. Julian, and Blake began a joint venture wherein their individual practices would work cooperatively with Savani and ADMG with the goal of growing and

expanding their businesses through the collaboration. Complaint in Federal Action at ¶¶ 18-19 (R. p. 25).

The parties contemplated that J. Julian and B. Julian would continue their practices in South Carolina and provide dental education to dentists associated with or managed by Savani and ADMG, and, in exchange, Savani would provide the Julians and their practices with business management and administrative assistance to make their practices more efficient and profitable. In reliance upon Savani's representations and promises regarding management support systems, business experience, and cost savings, as well as Savani's assurance of sound, legal, and fair business management, the parties undertook a Memorandum of Understanding (the "MOU") on June 26, 2017, which purported to outline a general plan for business relationship between the parties with the details of the relationship to be determined based on specific written agreements and future, mutual understandings between the parties. (R. p. 25).

The preamble of the MOU expresses that it merely "memorialize[d] [the parties'] understanding of the terms and conditions the parties intend to agree to in subsequent specific agreements." MOU at Preamble (emphasis added) (R. p. 65). Paragraph 16 of the MOU further provides "It is understood that the parties shall enter into specific agreements and that this MOU sets forth the general understanding of the parties. The terms and provisions of the specific agreements shall be deemed controlling unless stated otherwise." MOU at ¶16 (R. p. 70). The only specific agreements executed by the parties consisted of entity formation filings differing from those described by the MOU, two Service Agreements, and three Dental Director Agreements setting forth the parties' respective roles in the venture. *See Services Agreements* (R. pp. 74-96); (R. p. 25). The parties' understanding regarding the proposed business arrangement as set forth in the MOU was premised and conditioned upon Savani's fulfillment of his capital contributions to

what was intended to become the LLC and payment of compensation to the Julians. *See* MOU and Services Agreements (R pp. 65-96).

As a testament to the incomplete status of the MOU, the parties formed two entities which differed in membership composition and function from the statements contained in the MOU. Savani and J. Julian organized the LLC, with ownership interests allocated as follows:

J. Julian	Thirty-Six Percent (36%)
B. Julian	Twenty-Four Percent (24%)
Savani	Forty Percent (40%)

This entity notably differed from the entity described in the MOU, which characterized the LLC as an entity to be “formed to provide the clinical practice of dentistry.” MOU at ¶1 (R. p. 65). Instead, the LLC operated as the entity responsible for managing the operations and finances of the venture. *See* Complaint in Federal Action (R. pp. 26-27); Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaim in State Action (R. pp. 98-99).

Also differing from the MOU, J. Julian and B. Julian organized the Clinical Practice, Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A., with J. Julian and B. Julian each owning a 50% interest and Savani having no ownership interest. The Clinical Practice operated the clinical aspects of the venture. (R. pp. 26-27) More specifically, the Clinical Practice facilitated the actual practice of clinical dentistry at the four office locations in South Carolina. *Id.* These offices included J. Julian’s solely owned company, The Dental Retreat at Mountain Park, LLC; B. Julian’s solely owned company, Signature Smiles, LLC, d/b/a Signature Smiles Family Dentistry; and two dental offices located in Columbia and Taylors, South Carolina, which were acquired by Savani through ADMG shortly after the venture began operating in 2018. *Id.*

As operated by the parties during the term of their business relationship, the LLC was responsible for providing business support and administrative services to the Clinical Practice. *Id.*

Each of the four aforementioned practices remained its own separate entity, instituting differing operational protocols, and maintaining ownership of their assets without ever actually transferring any assets to the LLC as conceptualized in the MOU. *Id.* However, the practices did pool certain revenues and expenses. The LLC and Savani, as a managing member of the LLC, managed those pooled revenues and expenses, maintaining complete and total control over every aspect of the LLC's expenditure of funds, including control of all financial information and accounts of the Clinical Practice until Appellants revoked Savani's authority to take any actions on their behalf in June of 2020. (R. pp. 28-30; 150-151)

In early 2020, J. Julian and B. Julian became aware of inconsistencies in the financial records of the LLC and Clinical Practice. (R. pp. 30-34; p. 171, l. 20-p. 172, l. 20) J. Julian was also questioned by governmental agency regarding Savani's other businesses, including businesses to which Savani transferred funds from the venture for purported goods and services. (R. p. 34) J. Julian also learned that Savani had caused the Management Company to pay tens of thousands of dollars of improper expenses for equipment, supplies, and services that the Management Company never received and discovered a host of other unexplained transactions involving transfers of funds to other businesses in which Savani has a financial interest. *Id.* When J. Julian requested information related to these expenditures, Savani provided indecipherable financial statements and refused to provide documentation supporting the figures in the statements. *Id.* Fearing detrimental harm to their professional reputations and practices, the Julians repeatedly requested Savani provide an accounting of the venture's business affairs and assurance that Savani's own business affairs were being conducted in a legitimate manner, but Savani failed to provide the requested information and assurances. *Id.* As a result, the Julians were forced to sever ties with Savani and seek judicial resolution of the disputes between them. *Id.*

Despite the revocation of his authority to act on behalf of the Julians, Savani remained in sole control of the two dental practices he owns through ADMG in Taylors and Columbia, South Carolina. (R. p. 146; 152) Although Savani has the authority to hire dental professionals and staff to provide services in those offices, he has failed to do so in any consistent manner since the Julians terminated his authority to act on their behalf. (R. p. 104); Hearing Transcript (R. p. 171, l. 20-p. 172, l. 20); Motion to Alter or Amend (R. p. 152). When Savani has staffed his dental offices, he received all revenue from those practices without accounting to J. Julian or B. Julian regarding the revenues and expenses of those locations and without following the provisions of the MOU that he contends governs the Julians' actions. (R p. 162)

Similarly, J. Julian and B. Julian continued to operate The Dental Retreat and Signature Smiles, depositing all revenues from the practice of dentistry into the Clinical Company accounts, and they only use the revenue to pay documented expenses and payroll. *See* J. Julian Affidavit (R. pp. 146-47); Hearing Transcript (R. p. 171, l. 9-p. 173, l. 7); Motion to Alter or Amend (R. pp. 150-52). Despite their challenge to the validity of the MOU, J. Julian and B. Julian only paid salaries to themselves at the rates set in the Services Agreements and preserved all excess revenues in a separate bank account. *See* J. Julian Affidavit (R. pp. 146-47). The funds from J. Julian's and B. Julian's practices have always been allocated in accordance with the legitimate needs of their businesses. *Id.* The funds are not, and have never been, in danger of being mismanaged or wasted by J. Julian and B. Julian, who have always been and continue to be completely transparent with how the funds are allocated by periodically providing to Respondent detailed accounting records, including bank statements, which show revenues and expenses. *Id.*

Although there was no evidence of mismanagement of the practice revenue at the hands of the Julians, Savani, through Respondent, sought to impose the instant prejudgment receivership to

deprive the Julians of the income from their own labor and to gain access to the revenue generated by the Julians to support Savani's businesses during the litigation. *See* Motion to Appoint Receiver (R. pp. 119-121); Memo in Support of Motion to Appoint Receiver (R. pp. 142-145); Hearing Transcript (R. p. 169, l. 11-p. 170, l. 21).

The Julians reposed great trust and confidence in Savani to carry out his responsibilities to them and the joint venture honestly, lawfully, and to the best of his ability. *See* Complaint in Federal Action (R. p. 29). Rather than carrying out his duties, Savani used his role to enrich himself and advance the interests of his own entities to the detriment of Appellants. *Id.* Through this prejudgment receivership, Savani is continuing to abuse his membership in the venture, causing further harm and hardship on the Julians. This appeal seeks to curb Savani's misuse of the judicial system by reversing the drastic imposition of a prejudgment receivership to allow this litigation to be resolved in due course without further interruption.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appointment of a receiver is fundamentally an action in equity. *See Wadsworth Industries, Inc. v. Westgate Knitting, Inc.*, 264 S.C. 106, 109, 212 S.E.2d 571, 572 (1975). In its review of an action in equity, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts and rule upon issues of law in accordance with its own views of the preponderance of the evidence. *See Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10(1) establishes the circumstances under which a court may make a prejudgment appointment of a receiver.

A receiver may be appointed by a judge of the circuit court, either in or out of court:

Before judgment is rendered, on the application of either party, when [the applicant] establishes an apparent right to property which is the subject of the action and which is in the possession of an adverse party and the property, or its rents and profits, are in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired, . . .

Id. § 15-65-10(1). The appointment of a receiver is a drastic remedy, only allowed under the most compelling circumstances, and only should be granted with great caution and reluctance. *See Midlands Utility, Inc. v. S. C. Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 301 S.C. 224, 391 S.E.2d 535 (1989); *Vasiliades v. Vasiliades*, 231 S.C. 366, 98 S.E.2d 810 (1957); *Wrenn v. Wrenn*, 228 S.C. 588, 91 S.E.2d 267 (1956). The appointment of a receiver is fundamentally an action in equity, and one who has unclean hands is not entitled to use the sword of equity to his benefit. *See Wadsworth Industries, Inc. v. Westgate Knitting, Inc.*, 264 S.C. 106, 109, 212 S.E.2d 571, 572 (1975).

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

The Order issued by the trial court imposes the drastic remedy of a receivership without any evidence in the record warranting such appointment and under circumstances that do not begin to approach the instances in which our appellate courts have approved such appointments. The result of the appointment has created a hardship for the Julians and is manifestly unjust because it inequitably punishes the Julians for continuing the work their businesses during litigation while allowing Savani to profit from neglecting his practices. Accordingly, Appellants ask this Court to reverse and vacate the Receivership Order to align with the well-established law of South Carolina.

I. The Trial Court Erred in Appointing a Receiver Because the Order Fails to Set Any Value for the Property Contrary to South Carolina Statute.

The Receivership Order issued by the trial court must be vacated because it does not comply with the statutory requirements for the appointment of a receiver. Specifically, the Order fails to set a value for the property at issue and South Carolina law prohibits the appointment of a receiver under such circumstances. *See* May Order and September Order (R. pp. 4-21). South Carolina law unequivocally provides that:

No receiver of the property of any person or corporation shall be appointed before final judgment in the cause if the party claiming the property so sought to be placed in the hands of a receiver or the party in possession thereof shall offer a bond, in the penalty of double the value of the property, with sufficient security, approved by the clerk of the court of common pleas of the court in which the action is brought, fully to account for and deliver over, whenever thereafter required by any final adjudication in the cause, the property sought to be placed in the hands of a receiver and to meet and satisfy any decree or judgment or order that may be made in the cause.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-50. The Code of Laws continues in noting that “[w]henver the court or judge before whom such application is made shall appoint a receiver before final judgment in the cause there shall be inserted in the order of appointment a clause fixing the value of the property for which the bond may be given, as prescribed in § 15-65-50.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-60 (emphasis added). “The provision for inserting a clause fixing the value of the property in the order appointing a receiver is mandatory, and without such clause the order is void.” *Truesdell v. Johnson*, 144 S.C. 188, 142 S.E. 343 (1928) (emphasis added). The purpose of § 15-65-60 is to protect the interest of the person or entity from whom property is taken and placed in the hands of a receiver. *Id.* It provides a method for the party to retain possession of the property during litigation. *Id.*

Here, despite express statutory requirement to do so, the Receivership Order wholly fails to include any value for the portion of property which Respondent contends to be at risk and fails to provide any explanation for why this required valuation was not made before appointing a receiver. By failing to make this determination, the trial court has deprived Appellants of any method to relieve themselves from the burden of the receivership and has committed reversible error. Therefore, the Receivership Order is void and must be set aside.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Appointing a Pre-Judgment Receiver Because Respondent Failed to Establish an Apparent Right to the Property.

The trial court incorrectly found that Respondent proved its apparent right to Appellants' property based solely on the existence of the MOU. See Receivership Order. In so ruling, the trial court failed to recognize the contested nature of the MOU and overlooked South Carolina law rejecting the appointment of a receiver in cases concerning contested rights.

Our legislature authorized the pre-judgment appointment of a receiver only under exceptionally narrow circumstances requiring the movant to demonstrate: 1) an apparent right to property in possession of an adverse party and; 2) that the property is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10. In examining the application of the statute, our South Carolina Supreme Court has long held that “as a rule, a receiver will not be appointed during the progress of a cause, unless there is the strongest reason to believe that the plaintiff is entitled to the relief demanded in his complaint, and there is danger that the property will be materially injured before the case can be determined.” *Pelzer v. Hughes*, 27 S.C. 408, 3 S.E. 781, 785 (1887). In reversing the trial court’s appointment of a receiver in the *Pelzer* case, the Court further explained that the appointment of a receiver “is a stronger measure than that of injunction. . . . [I]t is not allowable in every case, but is confined to those of a particular class or classes. It is universally conceded ‘that the power of appointment is a delicate one, and is to be exercised with great circumspection.’” *Id.*; *see also Richland Cty. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 313, 811 S.E.2d 758, 769 (2018) (affirming the trial court’s refusal to appoint a receiver, citing *Pelzer* as controlling precedent).

Since setting forth the foundational principles guiding the pre-judgment appointment of receivers in *Pelzer*, our courts have consistently required the party seeking the appointment of the receiver to show it holds legal title to or equivalent ownership interest in the property at issue

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