RECEIVED

May 24 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-001151

Greenville Dental Office Management Group, LLC, a limited liability company proceeding pursuant to 33-44-1101 by and through its member, Bhaskar Savani, D.M.D..... Respondent,

v.

Jon Julian, D.D.S., Blake Julian, D.D.S. Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A.....Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Bruce W. Bannister
Luke A. Burke
Marcelo Torricos, III
Ryan Whitmore Pasquini
P.O. Box 10007
Greenville, SC 29603
(864) 298-0084
Attorneys for Respondent

May 18, 2022

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

ARGUMENT

I. **THE COURT PROPERLY APPOINTED A RECEIVER OF THE FUTURE COLLECTIONS OF A BUSINESS ENTERPRISE WHERE IT IS IMPOSSIBLE TO DISCERN THE FUTURE VALUE OF THOSE COLLECTIONS.**

"The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible." *Mitchell v. City of Greenville*, 411 S.C. 632, 634, 770 S.E.2d 391, 392 (2015). "Statutes should not be construed so as to lead to an absurd result." *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137, 143 (1999). The court should reject a meaning when to accept it would lead a to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the legislature. *Kiriakides v. United Artists Communications, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 440 S.E.2d 364 (1994).

No receiver of the property of any person or corporation shall be appointed before final judgment in the cause if the party claiming the property so sought to be placed in the hands of a receiver or the party in possession thereof shall offer a bond, in the penalty of double the value of the property, with sufficient security, approved by the clerk of the court of common pleas of the court in which the action is brought, fully to account for and deliver over, whenever thereafter required by any final adjudication in the cause, the property sought to be placed in the hands of a receiver and to meet and satisfy any decree or judgment or order that may be made in the cause.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-50. Respondent agrees with Appellant that the legislature’s intent was to allow a person or entity from whom property is taken and placed in the hands of a receiver to pay a bond equal to double the value of the property to have said property returned to that person or entity.

In *Truesdell v. Johnson*, 144 S.C. 188, 142 S.E. 343 (1928), the value of the property delivered to the receiver could be defined. There, the receiver took possession of the tangible property of the company, except its book and records. *Id.* at 192, 142 S.E. at 343. As such, the property received should have been inventoried and valued.

However, when the language of Section 15-65-50 is applied to the current circumstances its leads to an absurd result that could not have been the legislature's intent. Here, Management Company does not have an apparent right to a tangible property or business to which a value can be assigned. Instead, Management Company has an apparent right to all collections from the signatories of the MOU, including: (1) Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A., (2) Dr. Jon Julian, (3) The Dental Retreat at Mountain Park, LLC, (4) the business formerly known as Northstar Dental Education for Dental Professionals; (5) Dr. Blake Julian; and (6) Signature Smiles, LLC d/b/a Signature Smiles Family Dentistry. (R. p. 133, lines 1-11; R. p. 135 ¶ 4). It would be impossible for the court to assign a value to these future collections.

Further, even if the court set an arbitrary value for the bond, it would not be possible for Appellants to post the bond without using the collections to which Management Company has an apparent right. Appellants have assigned all of their "collections for clinical dental services rendered by Clinical Company dental professionals and all revenues derived from dental related sales commissions and professional education seminars, lectures and course materials" to Management Company. (R. p. 135 ¶ 4).² Because the bond would necessarily have to be set at twice those collections, it would be impossible for Appellants to pay any such bond.

² The Julians have also foregone any compensation unless Clinical Company and Management Company have sufficient funds in excess of three months' working capital. (R. p. 135 ¶ 6).

As such, interpretation of Section 15-65-50 in the manner suggested by Appellants would lead to an absurd and impossible result that could not have been the intent of the legislature.

Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's appointment of a receiver.

II. THE COURT PROPERLY APPOINTED A RECEIVER WHERE RESPONDENT ESTABLISHED AN APPARENT RIGHT TO THE COLLECTIONS OF THE CLINICAL COMPANY.

A. The Memorandum of Understanding and the conduct of the Julians evidence the existence of a valid contract.

"[F]or a contract to be valid and enforceable, the parties must have a meeting of the minds as to all essential and material terms of the agreement." *Davis v. Greenwood Sch. Dist.* 50, 365 S.C. 629, 634, 620 S.E.2d 65, 67 (2005). "[W]hen the existence of a contract is disputed or its terms are ambiguous, evidence that a party complied with the terms of the alleged contract or acted in conformity therewith is relevant and admissible on the issues of the contract's existence, the meaning of its terms, and whether the contract was breached." *Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 363 S.C. 460, 473, 611 S.E.2d 905, 912 (2005) (citing *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 303, 468 S.E.2d 292, 300 (1996); *Gaskins v. Blue Cross-Blue Shield of S.C.*, 271 S.C. 101, 105, 245 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1978); *Baylor v. Bath*, 189 S.C. 269, 1 S.E.2d 139 (1938)). "A contract may arise from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by *conduct*." *Id.* at 474, 611 S.E.2d at 912 (emphasis in original) (citing *Prescott v. Farmers Tel. Co-op., Inc.*, 335 S.C. 330, 335, 516 S.E.2d 923, 926 (1999); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 439 (Ct. App. 2003)).

A third-party beneficiary is a party that the contracting parties intend to directly benefit. *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005) (citing *Touchberry v. City of Florence*, 295 S.C. 47, 48-49, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988)).

The MOU was executed by Jon Julian, The Dental Retreat at Mountain Park, LLC, Northstar Dental Education for Dental Professionals, LLC, Blake Julian, Signature Smiles, LLC, Bhaskar Savani, and American Dental Management Group, LLC. (R. p. 139). It states in detail the essential terms of the agreement between these parties. As such, it is a valid contract.

Through the assignment of collections, the parties to the agreement clearly intended Management Company to be a third-party beneficiary of the MOU. (R. p. 135 ¶ 4).

Further, the conduct of the Julians and Savani clearly evidences that they considered the MOU to be a valid contract and operated their business according to its terms. Pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of the MOU, the parties formed Management Company and Clinical Company as South Carolina limited liability companies. Pursuant to paragraph 4, Clinical Company pooled revenue and expenses and delivered its revenue to Management Company. (App. Br. 6-7). Pursuant to paragraph 5, Management Company secured leases and provided equipment to at least two new offices in Columbia and Taylors. Pursuant to paragraph 9, the Julians each executed service agreements. (R. p. 84; R. p. 95). Pursuant to paragraph 11, Management Company provided business support and administrative services to Clinical Company, managed pooled revenues and expenses, and controlled the financial information and accounts of Clinical Company. (App. Br. 6-7).

It was only after the Julians wished to unilaterally breach their agreements and forgo their obligations to Clinical Company and Management Company that they decided to modify their conduct and contend that the MOU was not a valid contract. At that point, the Julians abandoned

Clinical Company's patients in Columbia and Taylors and refused to continue delivering Management Company's collections.

B. Management Company has an apparent right by assignment to the collections of Clinical Company.

A court has discretion to appoint a receiver prior to judgment where the movant has (1) an apparent right to property in possession of an adverse party; and (2) the property is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10. A court is within its discretion to appoint a receiver when one party is in possession of the property and the other party has an apparent right to the rents and profits from said property. *Andrick Dev. Corp. v. Maccaro*, 280 S.C. 103, 311 S.E.2d 95 (Ct. App. 1984).

“An assignment is the act of transferring to another all or part of one's property, interest, or rights.” *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 219, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Black's Law Dictionary* 119 (6th ed. 1992)), *aff'd*, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009). “Three elements constitute an assignment: (1) an assignor; (2) an assignee; and (3) transfer of control of the thing assigned from the assignor to the assignee.” *Id.*

Pursuant to the MOU, Appellants and the entities they own have assigned all their collections to Management Company. As such, Management Company has an apparent right to possession of the collections from the signatories of the MOU, including: (1) Greenville Dental Management Group, P.A., (2) Dr. Jon Julian, (3) The Dental Retreat at Mountain Park, LLC, (4) the business formerly known as Northstar Dental Education for Dental Professionals; (5) Dr. Blake Julian; and (6) Signature Smiles, LLC d/b/a Signature Smiles Family Dentistry. (R. p. 124 ¶ 4). These individuals and entities are either defendants in this action or wholly owned by defendants in this action. (R. p. 128).

Appellants admit that the parties signed the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) on June 26, 2017. (R. p. 98 ¶ 7; App. Br. 5). Appellants admit that the parties began a joint venture, (App. Br. 4), and operated this joint venture pooling revenue and expenses, (App. Br. 6-7).

Although Appellants make numerous allegations in their brief, the only actual evidence in the record is the MOU, (R. pp. 122-130), an Affidavit of Bhaskar Savani, D.M.D., (R. pp. 131-141), and an Affidavit of Jon Julian in Opposition to Motion to Appoint Receiver, (R. pp. 146-147).

In Jon Julian’s affidavit, he does not present any evidence that Management Company has breached the MOU. (R. pp. 146-147). Further, he admits that Appellants have refused to deliver collections pursuant to said MOU. (R. p. 147 ¶ 5). Finally, he admits that he and Blake Julian use collections belonging to Management Company to compensate themselves in violation of the MOU. (R. p. 147 ¶ 4, R. p. 135 ¶ 6).

The facts in this case are similar to *Andrick*. In *Andrick*, the defendants were in possession of rental property, the ownership of which was disputed. *Andrick*, 280 S.C. at 104, 311 S.E.2d at 96. The plaintiff held title to the property, subject to a demand for specific performance of a contract for sale by the defendants. *Id.* The plaintiff moved for and was granted an order appointing a receiver to take possession of the property and collect all rents and profits while the case was pending. *Id.* at 105, 311 S.E.2d at 97. The Court of Appeals affirmed the appointment of a receiver. *Id.* at 106-107, 311 S.E.2d at 97.

Here, Appellants admit they executed the MOU. Pursuant to the MOU, Defendants assigned all collections for clinical dental services rendered by Clinical Company dental professionals and all revenues derived from dental related sales commissions and professional education seminars, lectures, and course materials to Management Company. Similar to the facts

in *Andrick*, the evidence shows that Management Company has an apparent right to the collections assigned in the MOU. It is not necessary for Management Company to have a definite right to the collections, only an apparent right.

Also similar to *Andrick*, where the defendants demanded specific performance, Appellants contest Respondent's right to the collections by alleging that the MOU is no longer effective. However, this dispute is precisely why a receiver is necessary to take possession of the collections while the case is pending. There would never be a need for a receiver in a case where there is no dispute over the parties' rights to property.

As such, based on Appellant's own admissions, it is clear that Management Company has an apparent right to the collections of Appellants and the aforementioned entities. Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's appointment of a receiver.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY APPOINTED A RECEIVER WHERE RESPONDENT ESTABLISHED THE COLLECTIONS WERE IN DANGER OF BEING LOST OR MATERIALLY INJURED OR IMPAIRED.

A court has discretion to appoint a receiver prior to judgment where . . . the property is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10.

It is clear from Appellant's admissions that the collections belonging to Management Company were in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. Jon Julian admits that, despite withholding collection from Management Company, he and Blake Julian continue to take compensation "at or below the amounts set forth in the Services Agreement." (R. p. 147 ¶ 4). The service agreements being referred to set Jon Julian's salary at \$600,000, (R. p. 77 ¶ 9), and Blake Julian's salary at \$400,000, (R. p. 88 ¶ 9).

As such, in Jon Julian's affidavit, he is admitting that Appellants are reducing Management Company's collections by \$1,000,000 annually, thereby materially injuring or impairing the property to which Management Company has an apparent right.